Republic of the PPilippines

SUPREME CQURT OF THE PHILIPPINES
PUBLIC INFORMATION GFFICE

D AN DY
i I MAY 04 2022 D

-/ Uﬁ’& V M
23

BYy:
TIME:

Supreme Court

Manila

SECOND DIVISION

AMLAYON ENDE and QUE-
ZON ENDE, SURVIVING
CHILDREN AND LEGITI-
MATE HEIRS OF SPOUSES
BUTAS ENDE AND DAMAGI
AROG, represented by their co-
heir, Attorney-In-Fact, LE-
TECIA ENDE-BACALSO,
Petitioners,

- Versus -

ROMAN CATHOLIC PREL-
ATE OF THE PRELATURE
NULLIUS OF COTABATO,

G.R. No. 191867

Present:

PERLAS-BERNABE, S4J,

INC., FR. RONILO VILLAMOR Chairperson,
and/or JOSE RABANG, HERNANDO,
WELHILMINA® VDA. DE GEN- INTING,
ERALLA, JESUS ACOSTA, GAERLAN,™ and
ELIZA DIAZ, and/or JUAN- DIMAAMPAO,™ JJ.
ITO™ DIAZ and FLORENTINO
KINTANAR, both represented by
FELIPE VINLUAN, SR., PRIMO
BAGASMAS and JESSIE FLO-
RES and/or CORAZON FLO-
RES. Promulgated:

Respondents. T

DEC § 6 2021 ‘;2@3‘\
______________________________________________ X
DECISION

Also spelled as Wilhelmina in some parts of the records.
Also spelled as Juanita in some parts of the records.

On official leave.



Decision -2~ G.R. No. 191867

HERNANDO, J.:

Challenged in this petition! are the July 23, 2009 Decision? and March 10,
2010 Resolution® of the Court of Appeals (CA) in CA-G.R. CV No. 00272-MIN,
which dismissed the (a) complaint* for quieting of Original Certificate of Title
(OCT) No. P-46114 and recovery of possession with damages, and attorney’s
fees filed by Amado Ende (Amado), Daniel Ende Ano (Daniel), Felipe Mendoza
(Felipe), and Pilar Sunga (Pilar) against respondents Roman Catholic Prelate of
the Prelature Nullius of Cotabato, Inc. (Roman Catholic), Welhilmina Vda. De
Generalla (Welhilmina), Eliza and Juanito Diaz, Jessie and Corazon Flores, Fr.
Ronilo Villamor, Jose Rabang and/or Jesus Acosta; and (b) the answer-in-
intervention® filed by petitioners Amlayon Ende (Amlayon) and Quezon Ende
(Quezon).

The Antecedents:

The spouses Butas Ende (Butas) and Damagi Arog (Damagi; collectively,
spouses Ende), both Manobo natives, were the registered owners of a lot with
an area of 223,877 square meters (sqm) located in Sudapin, Kidapawan,
Cotabato covered by OCT No. P-46114.° However, portions of the subject
property are presently occupied by respondents Roman Catholic (11,356 sqm.);
Welhilmina, (112,023 sqm.); Eliza and Juanito Diaz (26,457 sqm.); and Jessie
and Corazon Flores (12,500 sqm.).

On August 17, 1995, Amado, Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar, claiming to be the
surviving heirs of the spouses Ende, filed a complaint® for quieting of OCT No.
P-46114 and recovery of possession thereof with damages and attorney’s fees,
docketed as Civil Case No. 1069. They claimed that, taking advantage of the
ignorance and illiteracy of the spouses Ende, respondents gradually took
possession of portions of the subject property through deceitful machinations.’
In addition, they alleged that the lawful heirs of the spouses Ende had executed
an extrajudicial settlement of estate which includes the subject property. They
likewise claimed that respondents’ ownership over the portions of the subject
property was merely evidenced by tax declarations and that the purported
conveyances of said respective portions were never annotated on OCT No. P-
46114.1°

' Rollo, pp. 50-81.

2 CA rollo, pp. 493-522. Penned by Associate Justice Rodrigo F. Lim, Jr. and concurred in by Associate
Justices Elihu A. Ybafiez and Ruben C. Ayson.

3 Id. at 573-575. Penned by Associate Justice Rodrigo F. Lim, Ir. and concurred in by Associate Justices
Leoncia R. Dimagiba and Angelita A. Gacutan.

4 Records, pp. 1-5.

3 Id. at 114-118.

6 1d. at 463.

7 Rollo,p. 15.

$  Records, pp. 1-5.
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Respondents filed 2 motion to dismisst H Uiﬁg that: (g
issued by the bar anga 7 m compliance with barangay conciliation p equmau
was fatally defec
executed me*elv

o~

*and (b) the ce LG cate of non-forum sho p ing was
5/ pei‘:ﬁmners counsel.?

iy

On Sep ber 5, 1995, Amado, Eaﬁuﬂ Felipe, and Pilar filed an amended

complaint!* zé;eratmg sﬂ.gnsian-.iaﬂy ngat@m in their complaint dated

August 17, 1995 and rectifying the fa guy defective verification and

certification against non-forum shopping.!” However, they ‘maintained that the
i

barangay certification is not necessary as the cc*&pmm was coupled by a prayer
fbr ssuance of 2 temporary restraining order (TRO) and/or writ of preliminary

11ﬁCL1nn 16

On Sap mber 21, 19935, respondents filed their answer with compulsory
counterclaim !’ claiming that fi&j acquired ownership over their respective
portions of the aﬂb‘m(ﬁ' @mbeﬁv from Damagi or from third persons who, in turn,
acquired the same from Da.ms,gs. Respondents belisd Amado, Daniel, Felips,
and Pilar’s azleca‘tﬁe that they are the rightful heirs of the spouses Ende. They
argued that their ownership over the respective portions of the subject property
wers not covered by transfer certificates of title registered in their name because

of the difficulty in having them registered due to numerous claimants.'S In
addition, respondents invoked acqu uisitive prescription claiming that their

possession of the respective portions of the subject property spanned at least 30

O
hﬁ
.
"‘ ’LT)

years {0 at most 50 years already. Since petitionﬁz‘s failed to assert their alleged
rights over the subject property, laches aiready set in that barred their recovery
thereof.?

Cm January 9, 1996, petitioners Amlayon and Quezon, « claiming to be the
2

surviving chi Uran gnd ‘ieéitimats heirs of the spouses Ende, m‘ﬂ:erve\\led. °In
their 2.:1%\ rer-in-intervention,?' thev elaimed that they are the children and
legitimate heirs of the spouses Ende and that mmaﬁ@. i}c:,ﬁ gl, Felipe, and Pilar,
the plaintiffs in Civil Case No. 1359, are mere impostors.”? They further claimed
that they were not able o exercise their rights over the subject property after the

death of the spouses Ende ’?ﬁ@az::sa thev were driven away from the subject

property by Inacara Bnde (Inacara) and Joseph Butas Canta (Joseph), who are
k ~ = 5 3% my 1 1t al Ot
purportedly nephews of the spouses Ende.” They averred that the plaintifis in

Civil Case No. 1069 are not the real-parties-in-interest in the q ﬂieung of OC
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15 1d, at 30-31

16 id. at27.

7 1d. at 44-30.

1B 1d, at 44-46.

9 14, at 46-47.
20 1d.a 114-118,
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2 id at 14110,
B Id.oat 115-116.
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No 3»-,46’% ‘4- T‘nus %ﬁtiﬁ@nem p:raved for the nullity of the extrajudicial
and the dismissal of the complaint for
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Ruling of the Regiomal Trial
Court (RTC):

On Ses tem?b r 3, 2003, the RTC, Branch 23 of Kidapawan City, rendered
its Decision® dismissing the complaint for quieting of title and recovery of
possessmn of the subject property covered by OCT No. P-46114 filed by Amado,
Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar®® The RTC, however, granted petitioners Amlayon
and Quezon ’s clazu, who, by prepon és rance of evidence, proved that they are

=

the children of the spouses :ﬁde and therefore, the legal heirs of the latter.?’

Moreover, the RTC found that the conveyances in favor of respondents
over their respective portions of the subject pw\pw, r executed by Damagi or
other persons, who in turn acquired the same from Damagi, were null and void
for being ucﬁt ous,® with the e J{Ve}v on of Wilhelmina who acquired a portion
of the subject property on April 5, 1945 from Demagi?? However, the portion
sold to Welhilmina was reduced o 7.4625 hecteres instead of 10 hectares as
Damagi can only convey up to her lawiul share in the inheritance, ie., 7.4625
hectares.>”

The dispositive portion of the RTC’s Bentember 3, 2003 Decision reads:

A
Wherefore, this Court finds and so holds:

1. That plaintiffs failed to prove their case by preponderance of evidence.
Their complaint is dismissed.

2. That Intervenors were avle 1o prove their case by preponderance of

evidence and orders the following defendants, to wit:

a. Excem for Defendant Wilkelminag Vda de Generalla and up to 7.4625
he defendants are directed to vacate their present occupation or
possession of Lo N 0.9, Blk. Ne. 25, Pis 3 9 regxstereu in the names of Spouses
Butas Fnde and Damagi Arog and located at Kidapawan, Cotabato and deliver
them peacefully to Intervenaors;

b. The improvemems of all the defendants except Wilhelmina Vda de
Generaﬂa ard up | o ~;075 hegtares o y shai be governed by Article[s] 545 to

e 545 H at the time the good faith

ceases, n arcr:- saouid be ;my ngrw:& or indy bm i fruits, the possessor shall have a
right 1o a part of the expenses of cultivation, and o pan of the net harvest, both

2 1d.at 117,

¥ Id. at 661-706. Penned by Tndge Rogelip R. Narisma,

# 1d, at 704,

7 1

2% 1d, gt SRE-TH4.
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in proportion tc the time of the possession.

vy

The charges shali be divided on the same basis by the two possessor.

The owner of 1 he thing may, should he so desire, give the possessor in good
faith the right to finish the cultivation and gathering of the growing fruits, as an
indemnity for his p rzjt of the expenses of cultivation and the net proceeds; the
POSsessor in good faith who f(n any reason whatever should refuse to accept this
concession, shall lose the right to be indemmified in any other manner.

Article 546 Necessary expenses shall be refunded to ev ery possessor; but
only the psssessor 1 good faith ma y retain the thing until he has been reimbursed
therefor.

Article 547 If the useful improvements can be removed without damage to
the prineipal thin, (sic) the possessor in good faith may remove them, Lmiesn ti ~
person who recovers the possession exercises the option under paragraph 2 ¢

oreceding article,

£

>

Article 548 Expenses for pure luxury or mere pleasure shall not be refunded
o the possessor in good faif ;; ‘0 t he may remove the ornaments with which he
has embellished the principal thing if he suffers no injurv thereby, and if his

successor in the poSsessis does not refer to refund the amount e*mendee

)...,

The Kidapawan City Assessor’s Office is directed to assist this Court in
defe’*:mnmg the necessary and u imy rent
previously stated there 1s no proof from said defendants of the n
what are these improvements are.

3. Defendant Wilhelmin

na titled to ov :nersﬁp and
possession of 7.4625 hectareg of Lot

g en
o 5 ~r~ T Pl
Bleck 25, Pls-59 registered in the

name of Q.poasss Butas Ende and Damagi Arog, In excess of the aforesaid area,
her right to improvements shall likewise be governed by Article 545 10 548 of the
New Civii Code.
The Kidapawan City Asssssor’s Office is likewise diregted to assist the

Cﬁurt in determinin ng the necessary and usef iop rovements of defendant

Wilhelmina Vda de Generalla. Those parcels of land mentzoa d in exhibit ©14”
containing 5.0 hectares and about 2 4525 heciares mentioned in e}d’hhlt “17” of
said d@fendant are the ones established by prepor ﬁelanca of evidence as

4, Defendant Jesus Acosta is directgd to deliver the owner’s copy 0
) :
1 s de

P-46114 to the Intervenors upon finality of SiS107.

Py
o
foy
ot

No pronouncement as to cost

SQ ORDERED.Y

d, at 794-706.

bt
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Decision -

Ruling of the Court of Appeais:

On appeal, the CA rendered its assailed July 23, 2009 Decision®® reversing
and setting aside the RTC’ s ruling 1 n favor of petitioners Amlayon and Quezon.
However, the CA affirmed the RTC dzs missal of the complaint for quieting of
title filed by Amade, Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar. The dispositive portion of the CA
Decision reads:

WHEREFORE, premises foregoing, the appealed decision is hereby
AFFIRMED as to the dismiss al of the complaint with the modification that
,intervenor-" ppellees”  “Answer-in-iz 1;,e*vention” 1s  likewise DISMISSED.
Coﬂsequem}g the findings of the court @ guo’s ruling in favor of intervenor-
appellees are REVERBED and 8ET ASIDE,

-
GISIT
“

SG ORDERED, ¥

The CA dismissed Amado, Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar’s co ;:iamt as well
as petitioners’ answer-in-interv n*‘on, tor lack of cause of action as both parties

failed te establish that they are the real parti es-m—n terest to mstﬁute an action
for quieting of title or recovery ¢ f possession.’ The CA noted that Civil Case
No. 1069 invelved & question of who are the legitimate heirs of the sSpouses
Ende, which issue should have been threshed out in 3 special proceeding, and
not in compiaiﬁi for quieting of title. To recall, Amado, Daniel, Felipe, and

Pilar, and petitioners Amlayon ar:d Qa zon, poth claimed rights over the subject
pj,merw as the legitimate heirs of the spouses Ende. Thus, the CA held that
there was a need for a prior ﬁ@ci;,ratign of heirship in a special proceeding to
determine the proper party who can institute an action.®

Pty
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Admittedly, under the 1997 Rules o e affirmative defense of lack
of cause of action 1 éeemed wajved when ﬁmi isyd in a motion to dismiss or
in the answer. hswevai, this is not applicable i the case at bar because the
complaint and the answer-in-intervention were ﬁled on August 17, 1995 and
Jamuary 9, 1996, respectively, or prior to the effectivity of the 1597 Rules of
Court. }e::;:'@, the prior Rules of Court that states that defenses and objections
not pleaded either in a motion to dzsmzss or in the answer are deemed waived
except the failure to state a cause of action which may be alleged mn a later
pleading, shall govern.®

Further, the CA ruled that even if the complaint as
were not dismissed based on lack of cause ef action, petitioners’ ingetion to
claim as alleged rightful heirs of Ei’%e spouses Ende begs for the application of
the doctrine of laches.”” Altheugh the subjest _pmmrty is covered by the Torrens
System which means that it cannot be i prescription, the right fo

1d answer-in-intervention
P
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Id. at 522,
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recover the same may be barred by lacheg.?8

£, 5% 3
A motion for reconsideration® was f'l d by petitioners Amlayon and
Quezon. However, it was dem&d by the CA in its March 180, 2010 Resolution 40
Hence, this petition.
Issues

The issues presented for Our resclution are as follows:

I. Whether or not the equitable ground of laches prevails over the
indefeasible Torrens title;

2. Whether or not the equitable principle of laches
ecgeﬂaems whs are occupants of subject property in bad faith, considering
that their alleged conveyances are clearly void ab /nitio; and

3. Whether or not the principle of laches applies against petitioners
Amalayon and (Quezon, unlettered msmbers c‘f the  cultural
minorities/indigenous people, who discovered the e:a tence of CCT No. P-
46114 only in February 1995 and filed their answer-in-intervention on January
9, 1996.41

Petitioners’ Arguments:

Petitioners argue that they sufficiently proved their right over the subject
property as legitimate heirs of spouses Ende. They dﬂig ntly pursued the
rights and exerted efforts to recover the sybject property since 1970. Unaware
of the legal processes, they were in a guan d,,sy until they secured a copy of the
title of the subject property in 1994 from the office of the National -Qsmmisqien
on mdig&nws Peopies (W CP}} and found that OCT No, P-46114 was free from
ny lien and encumbrances.” qﬁwew , on August 17, 1995, a ceum?amt for
Jleunb of title was filed by Amado, Da‘“ze? Felipe, and Pilar whe claimed to
be the :1ghu il heirs of Sps. Ende. From the discovery and recovery of GCT No.
P-446114 in 1994 urtﬂ the filing of complaint for quisting of 4 ie and answer-
in-intervention on August 17 , 1996, respectively, only Ilve
months have aapsef‘ Hence, the equitable princiy es has not yet set in.*

P R 3 . ; £
Moreover, the alleged documents of sale
re

subject property to herein

3 19-521.
¥ 1d. at 540-350
0 ¥d at 573-873.
& Rolie, p. 63
14,8t 65-73

43 ld

applies in favor of

ofth DECLRY
espondents are void because during the execution of
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those alleged documents, Em’:ag was already deceased.* In addition, the spouses
Ende are both members of the Bagobo Tribe, a sub-group of the Manobo
indigencus cultural com zmﬁy, bence, the transfer should have an approval of
the NCIP or its predecessor, the | ﬁi‘id&ﬁ&{} Commission.® The evidence on
records shows that the required formalitiss for the validity of the alleged
documents of sale, i.e., the ?e’-”‘pAGV&E ﬂ.’f” the NCIP or its predecessor, have not
been complied w ﬂ*.‘ Alse, none of the alleged documents of sale was
*f’egmter@g ciﬂ(l ﬂﬁe itle of the subject property remained in the names of the
spouses Ende.

Petitioners further argue that laches does not aijpiv on properties registered
under the Torrens system. Section 47 of Presidential Decree No. (PD) 15294
states that no title to registered land in derogation to that of the registered owner
shall be acquired by DrGSU‘m&&} r adverse pessession. If preseri 33»101'! cannot
be a"opliea neither may J.&Ch be considered a valid defense for claiming
ovmersmp of land registered under the Torrens system.® Nonetheless, the
principle of laches as a recourse to equity may be applied only te those who
have been in possession of the land for a ‘ieng time in good faith and for value.®
However, herein respondents have been in possession of the subject property in
vad faith for a long period of time as their claims of ownership were based on
(a) void documents of sale | navmg been executed by persons who are not the
owners of the subject property or heirs of the latter; (b) void documents of sale

1>

‘)..
m

tor failure to conform with the formalities required by law and for lack of

approval of the NCIP or its predecessor; {¢) unregistered documents of saie' and
(d) the OCT No. P-46114 which remains in the names of spouses Ende.”!

Respondents’ Arguments:

Respondent Roman Catholic av th t
of the subject property as a cernetes y ince 1955. ’{?1 1995, a co:ntﬁamt for
quieting of title was filed by Amade, Dan ai elipe, and Pilar who claimed to
be nieces and nephews of the spouses ré@ Vvho were allegedly childiess in
their marriage. Then, herein petitioners, Lb& intervenors in Civil Case No. 1069,
averred to have been threatened by Amade, Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar and drove
them awsay from the subiject gfc;ae”ty Heowever, no complaint or police blotter
was ever filed by petitioners against the complainants. Besides, p u‘rzop ers were

iving in Makilala that is quite near the subject property’s location 1 in Kidapawan

1ty.57

has been occupying a portion

i
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4 14. at 68-69,

3 14 at 69.

% 1d.

id.

Eatitled “Amending and Codifying the Laws Relative t¢ Registration of Property and For Other Purpeses.”
Approved: June 11, 1978.

®  Rollo, pn 71-72.

% id. at 73-74.

oId.

2 14, at 235-236.
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Moreoves, respondent Roman Catholic alleges that it is the custom of the

A

Bagobo children to report the demise of their parents, and that they are the
children of the deceased who will inherit the subject property, to their tribal
leaders, the local media, the Catholic Church, p@}iﬁciaﬁs of the provingce of

Cotabate, Office of the Presidential Assisﬁaﬁ on National Minorities,

Commission on National Integration and the 1 E”" >3 However, petitioners did
not do so. Henee, the appellate court correct ;j, led that petitioners’ action to

recover the subject pf%thv covered by {}CE‘ Ne, P-46114 had airéady
prescribed due to lach

Further, respondent Catholic Church agrces Wit r* the appellate court that
determination of who are the rzﬁ}r“” heirs of the spouses Ende should be
olved in a special proceeding and not in ef quieting of title.” Since
cgmﬁiamants Amado, Daniel, ?ei ipe, 3:1(;1 Pilar, and petitioners Amlayon and
Quezon, assert quu cmm on the subject property as descendants of the spouses
Ende, there is a need for a declaration of heirship in a special proceeding to
determine the pr Gpe party to institute the action. Hence, the CA correctly
dismissed the cen“piam‘ for quieting of title and answer-in-intervention for lack
of cause ef action as the in mat rs failed to establish that th y are ah° real swrty-
in-interest to institute an action for quieting of title or 1
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and/or Juanito Diaz (?
rig‘qﬁl hﬂzrs Gf m
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sondents Jesus Acosta (Acosta), Bliz aD za)
fi@} aver tﬁai. petmeﬁefs allegation that ;}/ ale the
nde te the exclusion of com amants &maucj
alls for a separate determ %patia-n of heirship in a

spemalp CEchug whic hi-apr@cgndiﬁeni an action for recover ysf property
and/or quieting of title.’” They alsc reiterate the CA’s ruling that pe titioners’
action to recover the subjf:ct property has already been barred by laches.
Although prescription may not be a valid defense in an action t@ recover
may b bar*e ’bv Eaci:dy ?eut oners

e

F

registered land, the claim of ownership :
were aware of respondents’ possession o
property but did not do anything to recover i

On the other hand, respondent Welhilmina argues that petitioners’ right
over the SLbj@C‘i p‘ﬂeperﬁf ha 1 0*: been establishe d ftiﬁwe r, her ownership
n sufficiently proven by evidence

me* acts of awnersqm

action ie YOCOVEr DOSS

on recem, smh as iax gesi acu;, Rl
She likewise maintains that peﬁtisneyf

8 ession of
subject property has already been barred hy laches as they allowed 50 years ’.ZQ
lapse before mstituting an a:zi::a“ kefore the appropriate court.> ’

% Idoat »aéf’ZB@.

54 Id
5 id. at239-242.
% Id.
37 Id. gt 269-271.
0 1d,

# Id. at 313-332.



Decision -16 - G.R.No. 191857 .

Respondent Florentino Kintanar (Kintanar) was ueemea to have waived
the filing of a co *r:mvit per this Court’s Resolution dated June 4, 2018.5°

Meanwhile, respondents Primo Bagasmas (Bagasmas), E essie Flores (Jessie),

and Corazon Flores (Corazon) were deemed as served of the petition by

substituted service pursuant to Section 8, Rule 13 of the 1997 Rules of Court
despite it being returned and unserved,®!

Ther@af[er, an ex-parte motion® was filed by petitioners to exclude from

Lﬁis case the two-hectare portion of the subject property

eccupzea by respondent Roman Catholic that shall remain as property of the
latter free from liens and encumbrances.

Meanw h v mners Amlayon and Quezon were substituted by their
heirs due to their demise on April 4, 200263 and Januars v 15, 2010,% respectively.

Cur Ruling
We find the petition meritoricus

The main causes of agtion in the court @ guo docketed as Civil Case No.
1069 are the quieting of CCT No. ?—4611 and recovery of possession of the
subject property covered by OCT No. P-—%Hl@, filed by plaintiffs Amado,
Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar against respondents Roman Catholic, Welhilmina,
Acosta, Fliza and Juanito, Kintanar, Baﬂ'zlsm,:ﬁsa and Jessie and Corazon. There
is no dispute that the subject property covered by OCT No. P-46114 was owned
by the spouses Ende. However, two contending parties, namely: (a) Amado,
Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar; and m) pe’zw@ iers Amlayon and Quezon, the
intervenors in Civil Case No. 1069, both claimed to be the legal heirs of the
deceased spouses.

The Cowrt laid down in sz‘fif"y«—’:s v. Larigr (Treyes)® that a prior
determination of heirship in a special proceeding is not a prerequisite before one
can file an ordinary civil action to ownership rights by virtue of
succession, to wit;

Given the clear dictates of the Civil Code that the rights of the heirs to
the inheritance vest immediately at the precise moment of the decedent's death
even without jud:lcia* declaration of  heirship, and the various
Court En Banc and Division decisions hulding that no prior judicial declaration
of heirship is necessary before an beir can file an ordinary civil action o
enforce ownership rights acquired by virtue of succession through the
nullification of deeds divesting property or properties forming part of the estate

50

?‘\

0
D
M

Id. at 39
61 Id. at3%1.
82 1d. at 428-429
€ id, at 437
& 1d.at 438
6§  Ses G.R, No. 232579, September 8, 2020.



Decision -11- G.R. No. 191867

and reconveyance thereof to the estate or for the common benefit of the heirs
of the decedent, the Court hereby resolves to clarify the prevailing doctrine.

Accorﬁ-i‘wiv, the rule laid down in Ypon, Yaptinchay, Portugal, Re /es
Heirs of Gabatan v. Court of Appeals, and other similar cases, which requires
a prior determination of heirshiv in a separate special pvoceedmo as a
prerequisite before one can file an or dmary civil action to enforce ownership
rights acquired by virtue of succession, is abandoned.

Henceforth, the rule is: unless there is a pending special proceeding
for the settlement of the decedent's esiate or for the de etermination of
heirship, the compulsory or intestate heirs may commence an ordinary
civii action fo declare the nullity of 2 deed or instrument, and for recevery
of property, or any other action in the enforeement of their swnership
rights acquired by virtne of succession, without the necessity of a prior and

separate judicial declaration of their status as such. The ruling of the irial
court shall only be in relation to the cause of action of the ordinary civil
action, i.e., the nullification of 2 deed or mstrament, and recovery or
reconveyance of property, which ruling is binding only between and among the
parties.®

There is no doubt therefore as to the rights of Amado, Daniel, Felipe, and
Pilar; and petitioners Amiayon and Quezon who claim to be the heirs of spouses
Ende to institute the present action to quiet OCT No. P-46114 and to recover its
possession even without a prior determination of heirship in 2 special
proceeding. Conseguently, the question as to who between Amado, Daniel,

Felipe, and Pilar; and petitioners Amlayon and Quezon, are the real parties-in-
interest or the rightful heirs of Butas is ine vitabic in the case at bar.

It bears stressing that what is abandoned in Trey s is the prior
determingation of hez ship ina sepw‘ ‘e spec cial proceeding as g prerequisite for
filing an ordinary civil 51 ingly, when two or more heirs rightfully
assert ownership over ano *i}’:'* in an or dmarv civil action o recover the property
of the estate against third s, the trial court may determine their status or
right as legal heirs to Dmt : i th e;r legitimate interests in the estate, since
successional rights is transmit d by operation of law from the moment of death
of‘ the decedent. Thus, it is only proper to allow the legitimate heirs of Butas to

nstitute the present civil act;& n or ta intervene in the recovery of the property
Qf the estate without a prior determination of heirship in a special proceeding.

Apropos, the RTC vahidly ac‘i red jurisdic
1 ¥, "~
heirship between Amado, Daniel, Felipe, aﬂd Pilar, and petitioners Amlayon

>

and Quezon. Hence, the CA erred when it reversed and set aside the ruling of

7-;\

the RTC regarding the determination of ﬂr": legal heirs of spouses Ende, i.e,
Who between Amado, ﬁam%, Felipe, and Pilar, on one hand, and petitioners
Amlayon and Quezon, on the other, are the real parties-in-interest in the action

for quieting of OCT Ne. P-46114 and the recovery of ownership and possession
of the subject property covered by GCT No. P-46114 filed against respondents

¢ 1d.

iction over the determination of

.
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Roman Catholic, Welhilmina, Acosta, Eliza and Juanito, Kintanar, Bagasmas,
and Jessie and Corazon.

Having arrived at the conclusion that the trial court validly assumed
jurisdiction to determine the issue of heirship in an ordinary civil action, we
come now to the resolution of the following issues, namely: (a) whether
petitioners Amlayon and Quezon are the legal heirs of the Endes; (b) whether
respondents Roman Catholic, Welhilmina, Acosta, Eliza and Juanito, Kintanar,
Bagasmas, and Jessie and Corazon, validly acquired ownership over the
respective portions of the subject property covered by OCT No. P-46114; and
(c) whether petitioners Amlayon and Quezon are barred by the principle of
laches to recover the ownership and possession of the subject property covered
by OCT No. P-46114.

(a) Whether petitioners Amlayon
and Quezon are the legal heirs of
Sps. Ende. :

It must be pointed out that only petitioners Amlayon and Quezon elevated
the case before this Court while Amado, Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar, plaintiffs in
Civil Case No. 1069, did not file any petition assailing the CA’s July 23, 2009
Decision and March 10, 2010 Resolution that dismissed their action for quieting
of title and recovery of possession with damages. Nonetheless, this Court finds
it necessary to resolve the issue of the spouses Ende’s rightful heirs in order to
fully settle the issue of quieting of title, ownership and possession of the subject
property covered by OCT No. P-46114.

After a meticulous review of the records, we declare petitioners Amlayon
and Quezon to be the legal and rightful heirs of spouses Ende entitled to the
latter’s estate, if any.

© At the outset, it is well to emphasize that the RTC’s findings of fact cannot
be disturbed inasmuch as Amado, Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar, plaintiffs in Civil
Case No. 1069, did not appeal before this Court. Moreover, petitioners
Amlayon and Quezon elevated this case to Us on a petition for review on
certiorari under Rule 45 or on questions purely of law. The point at issue,
therefore, is not whether petitioners are the legitimate children of the spouses
Ende, but rather whether the petitioners had preponderantly proved by evidence
that they are the legitimate heirs of the Ende couple.

Axticle 265 of the Civil Code provides that the “filiation of legitimate
children is proved by the record of birth appearing in the Civil Register, or by
an authentic document or a final judgment.” In the absence thereof, the filiation
shall be proved by the continuous possession of status of a legitimate child®” or

87 CIVIL CODE, Article 266.
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by any other means allowed by the
action tc claim one’s legit imacy may
lifetime and shall be fransmitted to his

his or her minority or in a siate of in

Rules of Court and special laws.5® This

be brought by the child during his or her

or her heirs ifhe or she boud die during
5

-

.1

The foregoing provisions i
Family Code, which provide thus.

e Civil Code have been carried over to the

Art. 172. The filiation of legitimate children is established by any of the follow-
Ang. '

(1) The record of birth anpearmg in the civil register or a final judgment; or

lag ]

(2) Anadmission of legiti ma*e filiation in a public document or a private
handwritten instrument and signed by the parent concerned.

In the absence of the foregoing svidence, the legitimate filiation shall be
a3

proved by:
(1) The open and continuous possession of the status of a legitimate child; or
(2} Any other means allowed by the Rules of Court and special laws.

Art. 173. The action to claim legitimacy may be brought by the child during his
or her lifetime and shall be transmitted to the heirs should the child die
during minonity or in a state of insanity. In these cases, the heirs shall have
a period of five years within which to institute the action.

XX XX
Art. 174. Legitimate children shall have the right:

(1) To bear the surnames of the father and the mother, in conformity with the
provisions of the Civil Code on Surnames;

2} Toreceive support from 'theif pargnts, their a ndant; and In pro

N } gl ? .
cases, their brothers and sisters, in cenformzzy yith the provisions of t‘ns
Code on Support; and

4

(3) To be entitled to the lpgitime and other suceessional rights granted fo
hem by the Civil Code.

Af.&.‘

In the absence of the record of and admission of Eag';tlmat ﬁ}*auon
Axticle 267 of the Civil Code and /2 of the Fan
filiation shall be proved by any other means allowed by the Rul
special laws, such as, baptismal certificate, 2 judicial admission, a famﬂy bible
in which his or her name has been entered, common 1epa‘=tati_0ﬂ respecting his
or her pedigrﬁe admis Si on by silence, the festimonies of wiinesses and other
kinds of proof admissible under Rule 130 of the Rules of Court.

é8 CIVLJ CUDI_, Article 26
% CIVIL CODE, Article 268.
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Petitioners claim that they are the legitimate children of the spouses Ende.
However, petitioners’ records of birth were not recorded in the Civil Register or
their legitimate filiation embodied in a public document or a private handwritten
instrument signed by the spouses Ende. Instead, petitioners offered testimonies
of their relatives, namely, Elena R. Birang (Elena), Laureana Bayawan
{(Laureana), Cristina Birang Carbonel (Cristina), and Marino Icdang (Marino)
to prove that they are legitimate children of the spouses Ende.

We hold these testimonial evidence sufficient to establish petitioners’
status as heirs of the Ende couple.

Both the Civil Code and Family Code recognize such other means allowed
by the Rules of Court to prove filiation or the legitimacy status of a person, that
includes testimonies of witnesses. Although no documentary evidence was
offered by petitioners to prove their legitimacy, the testimonies of the witnesses
presented preponderantly tipped the scales in their favor. Section 36, Rule 130
of the Rules of Court provides that “a witness can testify only to those facts
which he knows of his personal knowledge; that is, which are derived from his
own perception, except as otherwise provided in the rules.” Clearly, a testimony
based on personal knowledge, such as that of an eyewitness, may prove the fact
that petitioners were the legitimate children of the spouses Ende.

First, Elena testified that she is the daughter of Antonia Bangkas (Antonia)
and Valentin Robles; and has been a resident of Sudapin, Kidapawan since birth.
She further recalled that her great grandfather’s name is Ende Bago who has
four children, namely, Udtog, Katiyayan, Bangkas and Butas. Her mother
Antonia is the daughter of Bangkas. She attested that herein petitioners are her
uncles, being the sons of the Ende couple, whom she knew because of the
proximity of their land to the subject property owned by the spouses Ende:

Do you know if this Butas Ende and Damagi Arog had any children or child?
Yes, I know.

What are the names?
Amlayon Ende, Matias Ende, Quezon Butas.

Do you know why Quezon is using the family name of Butas?
During that time if you will enroll in school you can use family name or
the name of your father.

R 2R R

Is it the practice of your tribe to use the given name of the father as family
name?
A:  Yes.

XXXX
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Also, it bears noting that Elena, being a collateral relative of the Endes, did
not file any claim over the subiect property %;ccah\e she | =<1‘1__ i the existeng
of herein petitioners, the children of the spouses Ende, thus:

Butas has fwe bro”ﬁa*‘s, 1331“314\ IS}
aﬁ"*x’"yﬁ,-, 7 “Aawm is *’ne son of I

p_; tioners Amliayon and Ouezon
a8 'i:ne c‘:t k‘ en O‘F the QDGL Eﬁd_e; and that Inacars, the son of Udteg, drove
them out ¢ subject umge_rtyg to wit:

Q:  Now, do you know i this Butas Ende and Damagi Arog have children?
A: Ves, they have, '

ecision =16 (G.R. No. 191867

g

nrsug any elaim in this

i

gcausg they waited for the children.”™™

ooy

A Ne

Second, Marino corroborated Elena’s testimeny Whpn he confirmed that
Jdtog and Bangkas and one sister named
f Tewang Ende Indang (Tkwang), the daughter

=

B2

brother had died earlier.

Q:  Can you please name them?

A:  The eldest is Amiayon Ende and then Matias Ende who died earlier and
Quezon Hnde.

AEER

Q:  Now, this pro ? wioned which is in the

Lower Sudap

who were in g ‘ and?
A;  During that tim ¢ when I wax avited by my

actualiy v they 32“ re the cne whe ogoupig ’

1o go there and visit them.

b 1 you came of age

"7% O‘C,E

1 and Matias, do you

TEN {Mm eiséang}, January 25, 2002, op .:,‘5
id. at'10-16.

TQN( f‘ R. Bi ng, February 21, 2061, o 9_

s
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relatives of the Endes, who can rightfully claim shares in the subject property
in the same manner as plaintiffs Amado, Daniel, Felipe, and Pilar. Their lack of
interest in the subject property only shows that they acknowledge petitioners as
the legitimate children of the spouses Ende, and who have a prior and superior
right over them.

Third, Laureana is the daughter of Ugalingan Bangkas Bayawan
(Ugalingan), who is the son of Bangkas. She testified that Butas and her
grandfather Bangkas are brothers. She corroborated the testimonies of Elena
and Marino that Butas had two brothers and one sister, namely, Bangkas, Adtag
and Catiyayan. She further averred that she lives in her aunt Antonia’s property
in Sudapin, Kidapawan City that is adjacent to the subject property owned by
the spouses Ende, to wit:

Q:  You stated that you are a resident of Sudapin, Kidapawan City, since when
have you been residing in that place?
A:  Since birth.
Q:  So you own the place or the land where you were staying?
A: No, Sir.
Q:  Who owns that land?
A: Itis owned by Antonia Bangkas.
Q: Do you have any relation with Antonia Bangkas?
A:  Yes, Sir.
Q:  What is your relation with her?
A: My father and Antonia Bangkas are brother and sister.
Q: Do you know the parents of your father and your aunt Antonia Bangkas?
A:  Yes, Sir.
- Q:  What are the names of the parents or your grandparents?
A: Bangkas Ende is his father, I do not know their mother because when I was

small they were already dead before my birth.

Do you know if your grandfather Bangkas Ende had any brother or sister?
Yes, Sir.

Q

A

Q:  Who are they?

A: Adtag Ende, Catiyanan Ende and Butas Ende.

X XXX
Q: You mentioned of Butas Ende as one of the brother of your grandfather

Bangkas Ende, do you know if this Butas Ende has any children? (sic)
A:  Yes, Sir. .

-

2
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However, on cross-examination, Laureana testified that her testimony
regarding the le g itimacy stafus fp@ﬁ;i@n@r Amlayon and Quezon was based

1

merely on the information relg fed te him by her father Ugalingan, aunt Elena
and uncle Amlayon, to wit:

Q:  How old are you Mrs, Guinang?
Ar 42 vearsold.

»3m YA oy I3 oo g 3 v 33 iz 3
orn yhen Bangkas Ende was still alive?

Did youh bear this &
Yes, Sir, becauss ¢

L8u3, K32k,

alive,
Q:  Bothe stery you got was merely coming from the oral statement from these
- 3 persons?
A Yes, 8ir™

§1‘143_£ E‘Y

aughter of Elena and granddaughter of
of her fﬁiatwes was pased on the

i grandmother. She declared that Elena and
Aﬂmma tcuc that the > §D0OUSes 1de have thres chﬂéﬁe} , hamely, Am‘!ayozz,

Quezon, and Ma

(3:  These things you _ha.ve been -‘eihz about the {amily tree of the family of

oy
g«*
o
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oy
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A:  Thisisbase {sicyon ﬂffﬁ: story of my grandmo other and my mother.

Q:  When did vou (sie }m‘“zd;mnf 1
A:  Five (§) vears age when my Wammgtbm died.

G W iat are you u telling the Court is a stories (sie) that was told by dead person?
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Both Laureana and Cristina testified on petitioners Amlavon an d Quezon’s
family p pedigree based on the deglarations relayed to them by other family
me htf;i‘b who were already decsased and cennet testify in g;@im namely

Uge,fiinggn and Antonia. Notably such are considered declarations

»e 1 : : "f@ the hearsay rule,
niect to the fﬂh@wmo
_Q testify; (2) that the

-

bj%ﬁi of inguiry; (3)

108U
k] R4

thaf su,w ei ’m n Snip be 1¢ declaration; and (4)

that the declaration was made ant. itern moian ot only before the
ce*nmeﬁcer”em of t.ha su“ m*m ing thf—-; &Y ‘%}jﬁ& m‘.‘?.‘er Q" Eh e declaration, but

q;j
)
D
E¢2]
%‘:
(Q%
)

m

A

alingan and Antonia, were both
ostily whe weana and Cristina testified. In addition, the
ayon and (Juezon are t im ate Phiur‘m m ;he onueeo

Hnde were relayed by Uga
the commencement of this suil o ze auy em‘s‘m\mrs" af s@ i.;vg}yigg th_@

p between the declarants
] petit - e Q@iez@ﬁ, has been establf
gvidence other tﬂa: such dee iaraﬁ on, consisting of Elena’s tes

1E R,
Ugalingan and Anton iz ave first cousins s of Amigyon gnd Quezon since Bangkas,

the declarants’ father, and Butas, petitioners’ father, are brothers. Likewise,
Marino corro bﬁm" d Elena’st sﬁﬂm 1y that Bar g‘i s aﬁd mw 28 are bvsfhpﬁ:n and
therefore, peti homﬁ are rmiaﬁ:@d to declaran

Md knew i’he
persen a} i f*umta eir status ag the

legitimate ¢ ."ﬂdl‘eﬁ o
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Why did you ﬁM vw that fact these sons of Butas and Damagi went to your

grandfather to seek advise? (sic)

A: Ugalingan B yawan and my gr randmother arg just neighbor and when
Amlayon and Q uezon Ende went to the house of Ugalingan Bayawan we
were ;he*_y and we could hear what they would bs conyersing.

Q:  What is the advised (sic) of your grandfither to the sons? (sic)

A: My grandfather UJ g ingen B“}av»aﬁ advised them to talk to Inacara.®

Clearly, the overwhelming elatives proved that

petitio rs&‘“«;axouui@jgezgé,_ ave the legitimate f*ne spouses Bnde
ﬁﬁﬂ hm S ang Avungn drove them out of ”Z;@ Sd}jaﬁﬁ; uFOpei"%’
after the 1ses Eng dents af ted to dzsm“edﬁ the
testimon S ey averred that she was not a descendant GFBaﬂsk&S
as }ber mﬂmﬁf A.ﬂ Q"La Was ‘t augnter ol 140 Y Qr W};ﬁ" another man.

Nonetheless, even assuming that Elena is not a descendant by bleod of
Bangkas and Butas, her Ws"fzmeny that is based on | her personal knowledge, is
st ili a¢n1SQ1ble It is worth noting that she; testified bgged on her own perception
f facts. Besides, Section 39, Rule 130 of the Ruies of Court does not reqmre
ka‘* the witness be related to the person whese legitimacy is the subject of
inquiry. What matters is that the declarent’s relationship with the person whose
pedigree is in question be shown by evidence other than such act or declaration.

=+

pud 8

in aﬂditm
t t he was

6 marnace

seding the ralativ Trde e ik
egarding the relatives of snouses Ende was not
e but on his own investigations and interviews
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Q:  Now, Mr. Witness, by the way, you have your Exhibit “VV”, where did you
get the basis for that. How did you come to that writing of individual
persons. (sic)

A: Igot this from, when I conducted investigation from the old man like Datu
Pinantao which is of the pedigree of Butas Ende.

Q:  Was he the only person ybu interviewed?
A:  We have also Datu Elib Ulod.

XXXX

Q:  Now, considering that you were born 1956 and this Butas Ende died before
the war according to the records and Damagi Arog died about 1952 or 1953.
You were not yet born when these people were still alive? You never met
them?

A:  No, Sir.

Q:  So much so that the other relatives also of Butas Ende and Damagi Arog

you do not know because definitely some have already died, is it not?
A:  Yes, Sir.

XXXX

In other words, Mr. Ikling in your interview with these people they were
only getting their data from their recollection only, is it not?
Yes, Sir.

Q
A
Q:  Not from their own personal knowledge.
A:  Yes, Sir.

XXXX

Q: By the way, Mr. Ikling in your study did you ask or investigate whether the
couple Butas Ende and Damagi Arog have legitimate children or
illegitimate children?

A: No, they have no children.

Q: How many persons did you ask regarding this matter in your study. How
many people did you ask in your study telling you that they have no
children?

A: I conducted investigations, even some of them were old Christians.

Q:  How many persons did you ask regarding this matter?
A: There were about three persons namely, Apa Ulod, Amado and Datu
Maway. They were the people I asked during my investigation. ¥

With Ignacio’s admission, his testimonies as to the ancestry of the spouses
Ende cannot be given any probative value. Even under the exception to the
hearsay rule, the information regarding the Endes’ pedigree derived from Datu
Pinantao, a certain Datu Elib Ulod and Datu Maway, is not admissible as

8 TSN (Ignacio Ikling), September 13, 1996, pp. 31-38.
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Pinantao himself testified in court and Datu Elib Uled and Datu Maway’s

relationship wﬂn the ;:si aintiffs and petitioners was not ¢le aﬂv established, Mere

mention that they were related by affinity to Butas is not sufficient.® Plaintiffs

should have presented Datu Elib Ulod and Datu Maway themselves to testify
1 £ fp Lot

ts surrounding En des’ relatives

based on their pers@n? knowledge of the fac
and/or surviving heirs. Besides, there is no evidence on rmcord that Datu Elib
Ui@d and Datu Maway were upabie { ;Cy in court. Hence, Ignacio’s
atement that petitioners’ fathe ta csrtakn Aso Ende, whoisa
5th

son of L‘m 5g “6 brother of Butas, and her is Ayab Arcg, is wi hs%

;

ol
£
3
=
o
Joa n
=3
gt
ot

o
C;)

Second, Pinantao testified that he is related to the spouses Ende through
the

“_rwin:?’iaw Bayawaﬁ, who is a brother of Butas. Aside from Bayawan, he
likewise testified that Butas has two brothers, Baca

namely, Dayen, Ay an, and i{aiz yayan,

4

dAdfez and three sisters
&
<.
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i
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S
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=
&
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g;cz

" of 1 first cousin, Ay bg, but he could not
remember the name of their father, nge*fﬁif, -4 mg ngver mentio *@ed that
‘ : ry

Pinantac’s claim.

‘,.,\
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Alse, it bears noting that Pinantac’s relation to the Endes is through affinity
since he married a daughter of Bayawan, who is aﬂ_egeg}y 2 bm‘i ber 9 Butas
masmuch 2s he testified on his ov _
the family relations of the Endes will not suffice as _he

o

is merely related 1o the spouses Ende by marriage, in con ;T m the fest mome
of Elena and Marino, as well as Laureana and Crisa,’z-;a, who were collateral
blood relatives of Butas, through the latter’s brother, Bangkas.

Further, both Ikling and Pinantac omitied to mention Bangkas as a brother

related to Puas,
ghter of Bangkas

RS Butas and Bangkas are brothers. This,
however, was cont: d ntao who testified that Felipe was married to
Awo Bayaw ”ﬂ, a aa A ; i

Bayawan and Av
the spouses E
cannot join
the spouses .
wife Awo Ba

rendered Wi
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d, Amade’s t on the brothers of Butas contradicted that of
- ang Pinantao when he cecmagi *ﬁt Bitas’ brothers were Bacag, Ba?lﬁm;
end Adtag, and his two sisters were Dayem and Katiyagan ® He testified that

id. gt 43-44
i Pl Y ora . : K Ew . -
8 TYN fAmado Pipenfao}, Recember 13, 1996, p. 24
8 .

, a
] ’ 2 ]
He also deciared that petitioners Amiayan _

-
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he is related to Butas through his father Bacag, and that he lived since birth with

the spouses Ende, who had ne children. He claimed that pe thlonerq Quezen and
Amlayon were the sons of Aso Ende, the son of Adtag, Notably, Amado omitted
tc mention Bayawan as one of Butas® broth in contrast to Pinantao’s

b

testimony. Also, although he claimed to have liv é with the spouses Ende sinee
hirm he nonetheless did net, as an a}igged helr, object to or take part in the sale
cued fniacara, Joseph, Ayonan, and Ayan of the respective pertions of the

bv In
.1 = 2
E nd owned by the spouses Ende.

Fourth, Marxita Mendoza (Marita), the daughter of plaintiff Felipe, testified
that her mother Agida Ende is the daughter of Bangkas, who is a brother of
Butas.® This is incons siarafz with the testimony of Pinantac that Felipe married
the daughter of Bayawan. Contrary to Ikling and Pinantac’s testimenies tha-

1a

ia,red that Butas had thre

omitted Bangkas as one of B*s as’ brothers, Marita de

brothers, Bangkas, Udtog Bacag, and two sisters, Dayem and Baﬁayan 21 She ,

further testified that eﬁt Pn_e__.;y Amlayon and Quezm are the grandchildren of

Udtog. However, u en interrogation, she denied having known Inaca a and
s ,!.J é
Joseph despite her claim that she had been living near the Er nde’s property’ and
S DEL e 7 14 £ : )
the overwhelming eviden ice sh@wmg that Inacara and Joseph oeccupied the
. _p N

subject property and even signed several decuments of sale
Also, Marita initially declared that Udtog had enly two sons namely, Uyab

- Udtog or Adtag. Later, she __ s also a sen
of Udtog or Adtag. Marita explained her inconsistency and failure to recoliect
the names and identities of her relatives by claiming that such information was
only relayed to her and not based on her own perzonal knowledge

person 5—1

. 5 LﬁGﬂmS
fillation. Neither can e::m, to the
hearsavy rule in the absenc s 10 the

# ;c: at 7.

%2 id.at 18-17.

% Id.at28.

% Id. at29and 32
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Yo

Amiayen and Quezon, who were semehow similarly situated with the plaintiffs,
we*e inadvertently exciuded as alleged co-hgirs in ﬁ}e subject property.
gtitioners Aﬁna‘mn auﬁ Quezen were not gven mvil edi o qﬁe:ﬂd the *neetng

<

’mctaﬂ by Ikling to recover the subject property. These acts of plaintiffs rendered
their testimonies doubtfiil and suspicious.

Based on the foregoing, it is ¢lear that between the positive affirmation of
petitioners’ witnesses, that Amlayos 1 re the legitimate ehﬂdmn of

itnesses of petitioners’ filiation

the spouses Ende, and the depial of plaintiffs’

with spouses Ende, the former shall prevail. Well-settied is the ¢ rule le that great
weight is agcerded to the {indings of fact of the #rial court as itisin a baﬁer
position to @A&Iﬂlﬂy Eﬁal evidence as well as to observe the demeanor of
witnesses who testify in the Gasé;‘;.gﬁ Clearly, pe @1 Honers’ evidence is strong and
f‘@ﬁvmcmc th 3t t“iey are me isgiifmaiﬁ gzhﬂdzf iﬁ@ Sﬂ@wes Ende and that

1‘?‘4":

u Jl@q}- [%

hof t;wr p&ents Hence, we
¢ legal heirs of the spouses
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herein petitioners, and respendents, 2
were legally married,
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Under the Spanish Civil Caode, all the estate of the married couple is
considersd as aorjagai partnerst sroperty unless and until it is proven that it
is 2 part of the separate estate of the husban e wife.!” Even if the title of
the property shows that it was in the name of either the husband or wife only,
the same is presumed part of | ip in the absence of evidence
that the acquisition was m exclusively to one of

% f*err Y Ca*ezt o"Appe&s, 292 Pail
26 %PPU:LIC ACT ;\T"‘ 326
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(b) Whether respondents Roman
Catholic, Welhilmina, Acosta,
Eliza and Juanito, Kintanar,
Bagasmas, and Jessie and
Corazon, validly acquired
ownership over the respective
portions of the subject property
covered by OCT No. P-46114.

With the determination of the shares of Damagi, Amlayon and Quezon in
the subject property covered by OCT No. P-46114, We come now to the
resolution of the rights of herein respondents on the subject property through
their respective documents of disposition. As found by the trial court, Damagi
died in 1948 which means that any document disposing the subject property or
any part thereof after Damagi’s demise in 1948 produced no legal effect. In
addition, Damagi is entitled only to 11 hectares and 190.385 square meters of
the subject property which implies that she cannot validly transfer any right in
excess of such area to any person.

A review of the records shows that Damagi executed several documents of
disposition from 1943 until 1952, solely and/or together with Inacara, Joseph,
Ayan, or Ayonan, namely: (a) mortgage contract dated October 9, 1943 executed
by Damagi in favor of Vicente Encarnacion (Vicente) involving 5 hectares;!%?
(b) deed of sale dated April 5, 1945 executed by Damagi in favor of Vicente
involving 5 hectares;'?® (¢) quitclaim deed dated November 13, 1946 executed
by Damagi, Ayan and Inacara in favor of Bugnon Kawasa (Bugnon), wife of
Vicente, involving 10 hectares;!% (d) deed of sale dated February 18, 1947
executed by Damagi in favor Jose R. Zarza (Zarza) involving 4 hectares;'? (e)
deed of absolute sale dated July 10, 1947 executed by Damagi, Inacara, and
Ayan in favor of Bugnon involving 11 hectares;!% (f) deed of absolute sale dated
July 2, 1949 executed by Damagi and Inacara in favor of Vicente involving one
hectare;'%” and (g) deed of donation dated August 12, 1952 executed by Damagi
in favor of Joseph involving 2.5 hectares.!%

Assuming that indeed Damagi executed the foregoing documents of sale
and deed of donation, she can only validly transfer her rights on the subject
property to the extent of her share, i.e., 11 hectares and 190.385 square meters.
Article 399 of the Spanish Civil Code provides:

102 Records, p. 438.
15 1d. at 439.

104 1d. at 442.

105 1d. at451.

106 1d. at 444-445,
107 1d. at 447-448.
108 Id. at 425.
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ARTICLE 399. E: h co-owner shail have the sbsolute ownsxsmp of his
part, and of the fruits penefits derived therefrom, and he may, therefore, sell,
assign, or mortgage 1.t, am gven substitute ancther person in ii‘s eﬁj@ ment, unless

g

personal rights are involved; but the effect of mgﬂﬁaﬁeg with
respect to the other pamamams, snaﬁ be Bmited are which may be
allstted him in the 'wm tien umw the _‘véisSﬁEJtieﬁ m me _comzmunity.

N

(Emphasis supplied.)

Art, 493, Rach co-owner shall have the 1‘1 ownership of his part and of the
fruits and bensfits perta aining thereto, and herefors akepa‘re asmgn or
mortgage it, and even su ubstitute angther person in | 5 e@;@;h_eﬁt except when
personal rights are anaived But the effe ot éh aii@nzzﬂ@?a r ﬁe merigase.
with respect fo the co-owners, ’§;L2§£r be hmﬁt {0 ] i;mh mav be
allotted to him in divisicn upon *Eaa ﬁerm mn @i ﬂze w-—awnem%ﬁm,
‘umnnas 8 supnher 3}

Indisputably, the subjest property was covered by a Free Patent

Appi“caﬁsn No, 51420 in d’re name of Butas. Cor lsequeniy, Free Patent No.
7 ’ ed. However, it was declared lost and/or

destroy lieu therecf, Free Patent No, 539305 was issued on June 15, };9/,_
Then, ¢ 97 T'No. B-46114 was issued in the name of Butas.

11939, his wife

L85

n f@;gag tevw'ﬁw the

(X
A?e;té; ¥ %

% =g

are m

of the

o mad
(5! or decymenis of sale
ne o 1 Inag wonan, Ayan or joseph
from 1943 until 1947 were in favor of ﬁp@u *?T‘G@n;a .;agaﬁ Bugnon, and Zarza.
Asperthe qumimm deed ga*ref* T“ngwws@ 13, 1946, Damagi, Ayan, and Inacara
sold 10 hec | serty to Bugnon for 970, It further provides

that: ‘

cguf?d uﬁm

§

105 id. at 3 371,
" Punsalanv. Boon Liay, 44 Phil, 320, 324 {1923).
Ul Records, ,) 442,
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1981 with abselute deed of sale ﬂxecu%@é » Joseph and Ayunan in favor of
Felomina Zarza (40,000 square meters), 2 Xecwﬁ@é by Damagi and other
aﬂ@g&d heirs Q’f Butas, are i}ﬂ effect a2 nullity a né did not transfer any right over
the subject property. As can be gleaned from the above enumerated documents,
the alleged heirs signing ang GXECL. ing the deeds of dispasiﬁons r alienations,

are not consistent. Samedgaum nts were exeouted by D magi alone and some
were signed by or tegether wit hi 1acara, Joseph, Ayunan and;/@ r Ayan.

Even with their own declaration ir ugicial settiements of
estate of Butas that they are the Iz @“:f’s legal heirs, the documents of sale still
vary as to whe mnvw_ transfers or sells the rights on or any pe
subject Bmpe rty, If indeed they have the same right on the subject
s, they would have participated in each deged or ¢

a“”gﬁd heirs of B ‘ii:'l g i X i ocument
as it consti i: ites an alienation of his or her incheate right on the subject property.
In fact, no one from among the alleged heirs of Butas, i.e., Inacara, Joseph,

Ayunan or Ayan, repu daa ed the other sale transactions which they were not 2
part of or waived their rights thereon.

property to fzansier. In add]

19587 invol
favor of re spor
ﬁgﬁt to trans: oY CC
quitclaim d@eéd ted M

whe, in turn, allegedly
alle s@d heirs of Butas.
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As to the b ares sold by Ugai’ng an to spouses Welhilmina and
Ignacio Genera absamfe deed of sale da‘ii@é % igust 12, 1974, that
was superseded 1 y emte deed of sale dated Tu lv &, 1975, 130 the same 1s
likewise null and 0' d and produces no Eegal effects. The same is trus with the
conveyances made by Felomina Zarza to: {(a) respondent Eliza as per deed of
absolute sale ‘,@teu December 22 , 19811 (20,034 square meters); and (b)
respondent Acosta as per deed of absols ite sale dated June 9, 1984132 (13,900
square meters).

tw
lla

From the above dispositions or deeds of sale, not one has been registered
or duly annotated in GCT No. P-46114. Since the title was duly issued on
September 9, 1974, the parties, who acquired their rights over the subject
property by virtue Gf deeds of sale executed after the issuance of title, cannot
merely rely on the declarations of the alleged heirs or sellers as the title patently
states that it is registered in the name of Butas. The purchasers should have
examined the certificate of title and all factual circumstances necessary for them
to determine whether or not flaws existed that might invalidate their title,'>?
especially when these purchasers acquired the subject property or a portion
thereof from persons who are not the registered owners and whose alleged rights
were not registered or duly annotated on the title.

.;.4}

Well-settied is the rule that “a purchaser of real estate with knowledge of
any defect or lack of title of the vendor cannot claim that he has acquired title
thereto in good faith as against the true owner of the land or interest therein.”!3*
The same rule aisc & i’ S 10 ﬂ"ese with knowledge of facts that should have
put one on ngury and investigation as might be necessary to be acquainted
with the defects in the ti Le (}f the vendor, '*° as in the case at bar. The
respondents’ willful refusal to believe that a defect exists in the vendors’ title or
the possibility of its existence will not make them innocent purchasers for value
if 3 defect indeed occurs.!®® A buyer of registered land is expected to act with
the diligence of a prudent man, S?’:hem*ise, he or she cannot be deemed as a
purchaser in good faith. "’

This foregoing is true especially with the fransactions made by (a)
Ugalingan in favor of Ignacio Generalla as per absolute deed of sale dated July
8, 1575;1%% (b) respondent Corazon in favor of Kintanar as per deed of absolute
sale dated April 21, 1977;"% (¢) Joseph and Ayunan in favor of Esperanza Zarza

2214 at 458.
130 14, at 459.
1 id, at 470.
152 1d. gt 473.
3 Voluntad v, Spouses Dizon, 372 Phil. 82, 91 {199%)

134 Id
135 id.
B g,
i37 Id

88 Records, p. 459.
B9 1d, at 482.
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as per exirajudicial settlement with
1977;140 (d) Joseph and Ayunan in

settlement Wlﬂf'! d d of absolute s
in favor of respo '

te sgle dated April 21,
ZATZ3 38 per € raj udicial

1;1* (&) Felomina Zarza

{ Eliza heT Ge absclute sale dated December 22,
1981, (f respo ﬁdﬁfﬁ Zarza in faver of respondent Juanito Diaz as per deed of
absolute sale dated March 24, 1982;' and (g) Felomina Zarza h* favor of
respondent Acosta as per doed of ak olute sale dated une 9 1984 144 a5 during
“rm)se dis fmsuams he ty’s CT No. P-46114,

CL
,’:3
=
e
oyt
N
R
hAy]
{€2]

a@plmati on i~

Torrens sy Qté,m, Lhe (ﬂ‘X’ ﬁaS@‘i’S hereinr spuné t.s shuuéd have b sen apprised
of the nature and status of the st %:aj;ecé: pmpeﬁy as 1 h@ are the ;egai h i‘"s Of

Butas, In fact, numerocus extrajudicial se
Damagi and the other alle ged 1‘161_ of Bu‘;&s te accommo 42*;6 gvery HL} er of a
portion of the subject prog ::mr and to create a2 semblance of legality and a false

P
3

warrant;f Even r@&p& é:

hat they were not able to register ¢ h,sz:
i 3 hﬁ ve them duly annotated

o he the legal heirs of Bu as.

Aism rgsg_}@ade;n‘a:s were not ’,_nmindﬁ;i of ithe ?‘z__ac that Butas, a known Da@T in
SLda;}:n,}Cu 3 wfi;:__‘“»‘;i)b which they
should have e alleged legal heirs or

third pe: sonh Cid

Alsg, itis worth
of the Civil Code ir

sale 01 whm ;
purchasers.'® [
owne ‘fs‘h? p shall

140

d T 7.
L 1d, gt 474-475,
#2134, at 146,
i, gt 459,
44 14, 3t 478,
145 f adioweaith :l: auce Co. v, Palilec, 2 P2 /4 ?}”,;, 816, 521822 {1981,
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Te reiterate, not one of the pur

bl 4

hasers of the respective portions of the

subject property pm ected their ﬂ@} ‘ES by registering their documents of sale OI'

having them duly ar f title. Qesponéeﬂ*rs heavi
anchored th eir n the varo notari zed
affidav is 1 se ents,

execute }r I}amagi l ne carg, ?0 ph, Ag,ﬂ 180 of uvan

stating tf at she was the g&wﬁfing s@:eusa cf Bmas, and they had no legitimate
chil dr en. The ' rcuments were duly notarized make them public
documents und n 1%, Ruls of the Rules of Court, that creates a
prima fagie presumption of the fact and date of their execution.!* It may be
resented in evidence without further proof since the certificate of
g

acknowledgment is considered primg facie evidence of the exscution of the
document involved.!¥

Although a publig sxgeuted and attested through the
intervention of the notary public ¢ the p}f@@umﬁaﬁm of regularity, this
oresumption is rebuttable by strong cemplete and co h,,.éz - oroof, ¥ that was
sufficiently shown by petit; oners Ami: ven angd Qu ﬁZ'Dﬂ, th edgk heir evidence
presented and passed RTC and 1] is ourt. Hence, We cannot give
credence to the statements ailegedly made by Damag] alone or together with
inacara, Joseph, Ayunan and / , that } Va‘:ﬁ the *egmmata, heirs of Rutas
who have the rig‘ﬁt to inherit the subjegt property to the exclusion of petitioners
Amlayon and Quezon. Neither can 3C ﬁdgms be cmqmerﬂé in good faith
when they relied merely on the rep ser;aaﬁa,n* of Damagi, L-zacaraq Joseph,
Avuna ;f;x?d Agfa,;z;g as Thev were mmmea of the owaership and the free patent
apni:::aﬁ@n of %u‘iasﬁ as stated in the documents s of sale and/or diisgecsmon and
the subsequent issuance of the OCT No. B- 45‘114 registered in the name of
Butas,

ment gy Agreement Io tween Heirs. — It
s and Afagatses are all of age, orthe 1r imo;r.__
s, the partiss may, Wi e—.h ut sequring let-

zﬁés (ame}mr kst mselves as they see fit by
led in the office ?"'e egisé - of deeds, and
i a:‘tmm If there is

et

bi’l@ ca‘me; Susag

Gnlv one heir e estate by
means of an 2 i be
sumed that ;i"e L no debis it ne : n for let-
and I_il"ﬁﬁl’"SC 1 '

“  RULES OF COURT, Ry
I RULES ECQLALA,R

imz‘mae frc ¥ Lourt ¢
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The abgve provision was amended and reiterated in Section 1, Rule 74 of
the 1997 Rules of Court which thus provides:

SECTION 1. E 7&,&5&3 ial settlement by agreement between heirs, — If
the decedent left no will 2 ebis aﬂd the heirs are ‘ﬂ fage, or the minors

representatives G‘Lﬂ authorized for the
igtters of aé*mmstraton. divide ths
SiyiGe sne

ﬁ‘%.@ amaﬁf_: i?imn s a5 thev sge s pezne of a public in ruﬁéiﬁ fileg

i LIS : : 111(1 ﬁ*ey {i ;ig“ﬁ tne}f may do =0
in an oramar*; aé?en i)f p ; f:;fe is a}nl, _ t, he may adjudicate tO
‘nm self ihP emLe QSI:.[S "z:- a-pﬁdavii f1 the regis-
settlement, whether by public instru-

en Tor partition, or he st heir vhg ad-

;‘;&dﬁ.@aﬁ,@s f“‘a e:ttz*re sstat‘-‘ ‘zé himself 1 by means of ar mulita-

neously with and as a condition precedent to the filing o \f ‘16 pubim ,\ns*‘umenf

or stipulation in the ac usn %r Damv‘s; 1,-@5 of the affidavit in the office of the veg-
ister of deeds, & ¢ of d @c_:?;gf inan amcum eamvamnt to

th Value of tbe ‘GGT’SO“;JL propvn involved a certified to under oath by the par-

ment of any just claim that may be
fﬂcd me‘i@_z s_f-‘" e presumed that the decedent left *10
debts if no crg—;di tor ﬁi letters of administrgtion within two (2}
years after the deat :

gn shail be pub-
:};irseﬁ*, aper of geney . 0%1 n the manne vwé dmﬁae
eeding sectiar :‘é'am Bo e’%{‘ﬁ?’aééj@ieiﬁi $e‘é‘é§ez§enés’é all Be bindin
rson ’W:‘iﬁ bas not aarmmg%@d%ﬁéﬁ%&iﬁ of had no notice ther w@f
(Emphasis and underscoring supplied.)

April 1, 1968;1% (h) affida |

of estate dated February 2 lement with absolute
deed of sale dated April 21, 1977 | settlemnent with abso-
lute deed of sale dated Tune 3, 1981 stered with the Register of
Deeds. Hven thé respondents, clal d faith upon the purchass

4

150 Td.ﬂ ‘
81 Id, at 443,
152 1d. st 443,
183 1d at 446.
3% 14 at 423,

155 Id. pt 434,

15 1d. at 435,

157 1d, at 456,

158 1d at 476-477.
139 T4

;d ﬁt '.} .‘»‘—4?5.
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and/or possession Of the respsctive portions of the land, failed to register the
same with the Register of Deeds togsother Wi.h their respective documents of
sale even at the {}us et of the 1997 Rules of C@i !:z i-hus, vheqe eAL ajudicial set-
ﬂemems quitclaim deeds and affid

and Quezon as they di d n Qﬁ; participate t}l@?ﬁ@ 1 BOT ?paa baen notifi ed ﬁeree:c.
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principle of laches to recover the
ownership and possession of the
subject property covered by OCT
No., P-46114.
Last;}f} cents contend that petitioner ot to recove;
property had d alread n barred by laches which is defined as “su
r omission to asserf g _.rzmzz‘, izken tn comjunciion with lapse af time a ﬁd czr’er

circumsiances causing pre:;gﬁzre to an adverse

. .. 1168 1o :
in equity, 8 The eggential elements .ﬂ*f iamss gre,
part of the defendant, or of

3 hY

]

- f.'!,

situation com pi ined o 1 e S
knowledge of the defgﬁdarfs conduct and after he has an @p@ﬁ:}*nw t. > @”@,

A

(3) lack of knowledge or notice on the part of the defendant th"t the complainant
would assert the right on which he bases his suit; and (4) injury or
prejudice to the defendant in the event relief is accorded to the complainant.'®!

In the instant case, the CA applied the dectrine of laches for failure of
herein petitioners to pursue an action to recover the subject property from

respondents for g considerable length of Zame We do not agree.

ek 8
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the Philippines, Inc., G.R. No.
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Nonetheless, petitioner Amlayon averred that afier the death of Inacara, he
immediately went to the persons in possessio on of the subject property.'”” His
daughter Leticia Bacalso {Lﬁtisia“i supported mr—\ testimony of her father,
Amlayon, that indeed the latter went to **qugﬂd@nt Wilhelmina to claim back
the subject property. In 1580, Wilhelmina and Amiayon were summoned by the
Office for Southern Cultural Communities (OSCC) to setile and Wilhelmina
even offered 10 hectares of land in maaﬂgaﬁ in exchange of the portign of the
land eccupied by them bu‘ petitioner Amlayon did not agree with the
proposal.’® Prior to that, in 1970, petitioner Amlayon sought counsel from
Ugalingan on how to recover their land as he had nc knowledge on legal
matters. gr "“hzs was corroborated by the testimony of Lau ureana, Ugalin gan’s
daLghmr

-2

Maregven Leticia testified that they went to the Register of Deeds to
secure a copy of OCT No. P~-46114 only to discover that it was a clean title as
t‘lere were no annotations of any documents of sale or any conveyances on it 1%
She was able to retrieve two photecopies of the title and gave the other copy to
petitioner Quezon.'®” However, petitioner Quezon sought advice from Ikling
and gave the copy of the title to him because he thought 1 “"mo would help them
recover their land '** Thereafter, Ikling called a mee tmg, wherein herein
witnesses Elena and Cristina aftended, to recover Butas’ land but petitioners
Amlayon and Quezon were exclu ed from the said meeting.'®” Also, petitioners
appeared befors the barangay coneciliation r@ganlng the recovery of the subject
property, wherein Felipe sfzmua n {Vinluan), the representative of Diaz, Acosta
and Kintanar, offered them land or money in exchange for not filing g case in
court.!”® However, petitioners did net agree with Vinluan’s proposal. 71 L ater,
in 1995 ﬁi&mum filed an action for quieting of title and recovery of possession

o~ A

that st m“pm%PGD itioners as they werg yet to gather and prepars more documents
in support of their own case.'”?
These steps taken by petitioners to assert their right over the subject

Pmpe‘-ty were azﬁr‘fped b j the testimony of Laureana and Cristina. Laureana
was a former employee of the OSCC and was mesem when petitioners Amlayon
and Quezon sought assistance to recover their land.’” The OSCC advised them

to consult a counsel to assist them. '™ AESQ, Cristina testified that indeed

2 TSN (Amlayon Ende) ), August 30, 2001, p. 34

185 TSN (Leticia Bag 1 0 umber 20, 2001, pp. 22-24.
164 Ifi af ’j/! "’\

165 TSN (Laureana Bayawan), March 15, 2001, ,

166 TN (Leticia Bacalso), Novsmber 2, 2001, 5 ”6—«27.,

167 1d. at 31.

182 1d. at 32.

152 14, at 33.

70 )d. at 5-7.

7d st 8,

2 1d.at. 9. _

173 TSN (Laureana Bayawan), March 13, 2001, pp. 37-39, 46-4
174 Id. at 35,
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petitioners slowly gathered

doc ts in support of their case.!” She even
advised Leticia regarding the recov Ty of the subjectproperty’ 7® and accompanied
her to the Register of ueed s to retrieve a copy of the title, and in the barangay
conciliation involving the subiect property in 1995, 177

The foregoing acts of petitioners belie the claim that they slept on their

rights. To reiterate, petitioners Amlayon and Quezeﬁ Were preve ed from going
into the subject pf@?wf."f because of § Aq,ca:a s threats. I@Wfaver UpOn inacara’s
death, petitioners gracdually prepared the documents needed to recover the
subject property and asked advice from certain individuals and institution.

Although they did not mmedia‘sei‘y file a case in court, this does not mean that
laches already set in agams their favor. It must be pointed out that petitioners
consistently asserted their rights as legal heirs of the spouses Ende outside of
court but due fo certain circumstances, they were unable to properly file the

same for the court’s consideration.

Laches does not imply that g case in court must be f iled in order that it may
not be successfully imvoked. It merely requires “delay in asserting
complainant's right after he had knowledge of the defendant’s conduct and after
he has an opportunity to sue, 7 We cannot blame petiticners Amlayon and
Quazo*ﬁ from not tiling immediateiy in court since they were still in the process
of collating the necessary documents in support of their right. To note, they
immediately intervened in the case after having 1{1‘10‘%"°age of the case filed by
herein plaintiffs. This shows that petitioners were serious in asserting their right
against the herein plaintiffs, who were olair iing to be the alleged heirs of the
spouses Ende and in the recovery of the subject property from respondents.

Moreover, the subiect property is
Section 47 of Fres#éemim Decree No. tes th njo ¢
land in derogation of the title of the registered owner shall :
prescription or adverse possession.” Therefore, the r ght to recover possession
of registered lands 1s impreseriptible on the p art of the registered owner because
possession is a mere consequence of ownership.!’® Also, acquisitive prescription
or adverse possession, ne matter how long, is unavailing even to the registered
owner’s hereditary heirs gs the latter simply steps into his or her shoes by
operation of law and are merely the continugtion of the personality of their
predecessor-in- ~interest)” In this case, the possessien oif herein respondents
cannot ripen into ownership b}/ acquisitive prescription or adverse possession
as the certificate of title, i.e ., OCT Neo. P-46114, serves as evidence of an

ope th
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indefeasible title to the g erty in favor of the person whose names appear
therein.'®
B TS {C ristina C,‘z“bcrm) July 24, 2001, p. 13.

Ve id. gt 14

77 1d. at 14-13,

1% Heir of Cardenas v. The Christian and Missionery Allience Churches of the Philippines, Inc., supra note
166, citing Umbay v Alecha, 220 Phil. 1 71

179 1d.

180

et

»



Decision -39 - G.R. No. 191867

In sum, We declare petitioners Amlayon and Quezon to be the legal heirs
of Butas Ende. Amlayan and Quezon are each entitled to an inchoate share of
5.5 hectares and 95.1925 square meters of the subject property covered by OCT
No. P-46114. On the other hand, Damagi is entitled to an inchoate share of 11
hectares and 190.385 square meters of the subject property. Consequently,
Welhilmina, and Zarza and his successor-in-interest Juanito, having derived
their ownership from Damagi, are entitled only to an inchoate share of 10
hectares; and one hectare and 190.385 square meters, respectively. Accordingly,
We declare Amlayon, Quezon, Welhilmina, Juanito, and their respective
successors-in-interest to be co-owners of the subject property with each entitled
to their respective inchoate share. Thus, having acquired only an inchoate share
in the subject property, i.e., 10 hectares; and one hectare and 190.385 square
meters, respectively, respondents Welhilmina and Juanito and their respective
successors-in-interest cannot adjudicate to themselves or claim title to any
definite portion of the subject property until its actual partition by agreement or
judicial decree.'®!

Consequently, the ownership of the subject property covered by OCT No.
P-46114 should remain in Butas’ estate. As co-owners, Welhilmina and
Juanito’s possession of the respective portions of the subject property is merely
as trustees for the other co-owners Amlayon, Quezon and their respective
successors-in-interest. 182 The co-owners Amlayon, Quezon, Welhilmina and
Juanito and their respective successors-in-interest may seek recourse from
available remedies under prevailing laws, rules and jurisprudence to properly
partition the subject property in accordance with their respective inchoate shares.

On the other hand, respondents Roman Catholic, Eliza, Jesus, Kintanar,
Bagasmas, and Jessie and Corazon, and their successors-in-interest are ordered
to immediately vacate the respective portions of the land they occupied and
surrender the possession thereof to herein petitioners Amlayon and Quezon, and
respondents Welhilmina and Juanito, and their respective successors-in-interest.
This is notwithstanding petitioners’ ex-parte motion'® to exclude from the
resolution of this case the two-hectare portion of the subject property occupied
by respondent Roman Catholic that shall remain as property of the latter free
from liens and encumbrances, which is not proper.

Since the respondents Roman Catholic, Eliza, Jesus, Kintanar, Bagasmas,
and Jessie and Corazon, and their successors-in-interest were in bad faith, they
lose anything built, planted or sown on the respective portions of the land
without right to indemnity.’** The co-ownership may “demand the demolition
of the work, or that the planting or sowing be removed, in order to replace
things in their former condition at the expense of the person who built, planted
or sowed; or he may compel the builder or planter to pay the price of the land,

8L Carvajal v. Court of Appeals, 197 Phil. 913, 917 (1982).
%2 Deiparine v. Court of Appeals, 360 Phil. 51, 63 (1998).
183 Rollo, pp. 428-429.

18 CIVIL CODE, Article 449.
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and the sower the proper rent.”!® In addition, the co-owners are entitled to
payment for damages.!%

However, respondents are entitled to the reimbursement of the necessary
expenses of the preservation of the land. But despite such, respondents cannot
continue in possession of the respective portions of the subject property pending
reimbursement of the necessary expenses.’®” Hence, this Court finds a need to
remand the case to the court a guo to determine the rights and obligations of the
parties with respect to the improvements, works and/or plantings made by
respondents on the respective portions of the land in accordance with Article
449 n relation to Articles 450, 451, 452 and the first paragraph of Article 546

{the Civil Code.

WHEREFORE, the instant petition is hereby GRANTED. The assailed
Tulv 23, 20609 Decision and March 10, 2 ) O Resolution of the Court of Appeals
n CA-G.R. CV Ne. 00272-MIN are hereby REVERSED and SET ASIDE. We
ZE:EELLARE petitioners Amiavs‘l Ende an d Quezon Ende to be the legal heirs
of Butas Ende and are each ENTITLED to an inchoate share of 5.5 hectares
and 95.1925 square meters of the subject piy pur‘y covered by OCT No. P-46114
while Damagi Arog, as the legal fe of Butas Ende, is ENTITLED to an
inchoate share of 11 hectares and 190.385 square “net rs.

Respondents Welhilmina Generalla and Juanito Diaz, as successors-in-
interest of Damagi, are entitled to an inchoate share of 10 hectares; and on
hectare and 190.385 square meters, respectively.

The anﬁrshigg of the subject property covered by OCT No. P-46114
remains with the estate of Butas Ende with Amlayon Ende, Quemn Ende,
Damagi ATOé and the latter’s successor-in-interest, Welhilmina Generalla and
Juanito Diaz having only their respective inchoate interests therein.

Respondents Roman Catholic Prelate of the Prelature Nullius of Cotabato,

Inc., Eliza Diaz, Jesus Am;&t‘,, Florentino Kintanar, Primo Bagasmas, Jessie
rlores and Corazon Flores and their respective successors-in-interest are
ORDERED to immediately vacate and surrender the possession of the
respective portions of the subject @r@p“f“y occupied l;V them 10 co-owners
Amlayon Ende, Quezon Eqw. Welhilmina Generalla and Juanito Diaz and their
respective successors-in-interest.

We REMAND the case to the s::n wt o gue for the proper application of

Article 449 inrelation to Articles 45 0 51, 452 and the first paragraph of Article
546 of the Civil Code with espect to th Jﬂpmwmemb works and/or plantings
made on the subject property as hergin 51 iscussed.

85 CIVIL CODE, Articls 450.
6 CIVIL CODE, Article 451.
187 CIVIL CODE, Article 546.
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WE CONCUR:
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Senior Associate Justice
Chairperson

LINTING SAMU E LEH. G&?ERLAN
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¥ attest that the conclusions 1n the above Decision had been reached in

consultation before the case was assigned to the writer of the opinion of the
Court’s Division.

ESTELA NE%E\L&U“BER\IABE

Senior Associaie Justice
Chairperson

Pursuant to Section 13, Article VIII of the C@ns itution, and the Division

Chairperson’s A‘t‘tes ation, 1 aer&ify that the conclusions in the above Decision
had been reached in consultation before the case was assigned to the writer of
the opinion of the Court’s Diy ’181@11

.,..A

15 el GESMUKD

/ Zief Justice



